RECEIVED

NOV 30 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case Number: 2014-001150

---

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Walter Jacob Merka,

Appellant,

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Counsel for Respondent:

Mr. Alan McCrory Wilson  
S.C. Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

Counsel for Appellant:

William G. Yarborough, III  
522 N. Church Street  
Greenville, SC 29601

Mr. David Spenser  
S.C. Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211

Mr. Walter Wilkins, Solicitor

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE STATE'S FAILURE TO PROVIDE THE DEFENDANT WITH THE VICTIM'S STATEMENTS BEFORE HIS GUILTY PLEA, DESPITE THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST PURSUANT TO *BRADY v. MARYLAND* FOR ALL INFORMATION THAT MAY HAVE BEEN FAVORABLE TO THE DEFENDANT WITH REGARD TO THE OFFENSES CHARGED AGAINST HIM?
2. DID THE TRIAL JUDGE ERR IN NOT QUESTIONING THE DEFENDANT, MR. MERKA, ABOUT HIS MENTAL HISTORY?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a criminal appeal arising from the trial and conviction of Mr. Walter Jacob Merka in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions. On August 11, 2013, the defendant Walter Jacob Merka was charged with kidnapping, assault and battery, and carjacking (R. p. 117-119). On December 11, 2013, Mr. Merka waived his indictment and pled guilty to Carjacking and Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature in a hearing before the Circuit Court (R. p.55, lines 4-9). The Circuit Court then sentenced Mr. Merka to eight (8) years in prison.

On December 12, 2013 Mr. Merka filed a Motion to Reconsider or in the Alternative to Vacate the Sentence (hereinafter abbreviated to Motion to Reconsider), based on newly discovered evidence (R. pg. 45, lines 6-14).

After Mr. Merka's guilty plea hearing, Mr. Merka's undersigned counsel discovered evidence that Mr. Merka had a long history of mental illness (R. p. 46, lines 18-22). On January 9, 2014, the Circuit Court held on a hearing on the Motion to Reconsider, which was then framed as a Motion for New Trial (R. p. 77, lines 2-14 and R. p. 2).

After the January 9, 2014 motion hearing, Mr. Merka submitted a Proposed Order for a New Trial, with Exhibits A-G (R. p. 7). Pursuant to the Circuit Court's request, the exhibits of the proposed order contained evidence to support Mr. Merka's claim of mental illness.

On May 15 2014, The Circuit Court denied Mr. Merka's motion for a new trial (R. p. 5, line 22). On May 27, 2014, Mr. Merka filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 47). Mr. Merka filed an amended notice of appeal on June 9, 2014, amending the appeal to reflect the indictment number rather than the warrant numbers (R. p. 49).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On August 11, 2013, the defendant Walter Jacob Merka was charged with kidnapping, assault and battery, and carjacking (R. p. 117-119). According to the Greer Police Department Incident Report, witnesses reported that the defendant Merka ("Mr. Merka") and the victim Stephanie Brewer ("Ms. Brewer"), who had been in a romantic relationship for a period of time, and were both employees at Home Depot, began to argue at Home Depot (R. p. 120-124, hereinafter ("Incident Report")). Witnesses reported that Mr. Merka and Ms. Brewer argued in the parking lot and that Mr. Merka got into Ms. Brewer's car, driving away with Ms. Brewer allegedly hanging out of the passenger door (R. p. 123, lines 1-6). Thereafter, Mr. Merka was informed via cellular phone that the police were called, and so he returned to Home Depot and was arrested (R. p. 123, lines 1-8).

On August 20, 2013, Greenville County Family Court issued Brewer an order of protection against Mr. Merka (R. p.111, lines 1-5).

On September 16, 2013, Mr. Merka filed a motion pursuant to *Brady v. Maryland* et al, that the Greenville County Solicitor's Office supply to Mr. Merka "...all information in the custody, possession, control, or knowledge of the State, private parties retained by the State, or any law enforcement agency involved in the investigation of the above-captioned case which may be favorable to the defendant with regard to the offense with which he has been charged" (R. p. 114). Pursuant to this motion, the State provided discovery to Mr. Merka, including a statement by Brewer of what she alleged to have transpired the day of Mr. Merka's Arrest (R. p. 125-127).

On December 11, 2013, Mr. Merka waived his indictment and pled guilty to Carjacking and Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature in a hearing before the Circuit Court (R. p. 55, lines 4-9). The Court questioned Mr. Merka if he understood the following: the possible sentence terms for Carjacking and Assault and Battery of High and Aggravated Nature; the designation of these offenses as most serious and serious, respectively; and the designation of these offenses as violent offenses that usually required more active jail time than non-violent offenses (R. p. 56, lines 10-12, 14-16, 18-22, 24-25, - p. 57, line 2). Mr. Merka testified that he understood the above-noted (R. p. 56, lines 17, 23, and p. 57, line 3). The Court also asked if Mr. Merka had discussed the charges with his attorney and if he was happy with what his attorney had done, to which he replied "yes" (R. p. 58, lines 5-7, and, lines 16-18). The Court also asked if Mr. Merka had any complaints against law enforcement, his attorney, or the Solicitor's Office; if he was under the influence of drugs and alcohol; and if anyone had forced him to plead guilty, to which Mr. Merka responded "no" (R. p. 59, lines 2-6, 15-17, and, p. 60, lines 1-4). The Court then questioned Mr. Merka if he understood through his guilty plea he was giving up his rights to remain silent and his right to a jury trial; and that he was pleading guilty to charges against which he was not indicted,

to all of which Mr. Merka responded “yes” (R. p. 60, lines 13-17, and R. p. 61, lines 1-8 and 17-22).

The victim Ms. Brewer also testified at the hearing, stating:

Uh, it was recommended that I speak on how it affected -- how this has affected me. It's hard to say. You know, I didn't ask for any of this. I didn't ask for the fear and the memories and the nightmares and the depression that's never going to go away. It's hard to say. I don't know what should happen. This is something I'm stuck with for the rest of my life. It's not something that anybody should ever have to deal with. The fear of never being able to see my child again is stuck with me. I'll never forget being put through that (R. p. 65, lines 12-22).

The State argued for a ten-year sentence (R. p. 64, lines 23-24). Appropriately, defense counsel then stated that Mr. Merka had been “going to AA meetings” after getting out of jail, had been working on “some anger management issues,” was working and supporting his two-year old child, and had refrained from contacting the victim (R. p. 67, lines 1-9, and R. p. 68, lines 1-3). Mr. Merka's Alcoholics Anonymous sponsor, Mr. Derrick Cox, also testified that Mr. Merka was sincere about the program and was on the “right path,” and the mother of Mr. Merka's child, Stacy Inman, testified that Mr. Merka had been taking care of his child since his arrest and working a full-time job (R. p. 69, lines 3-10, and 19-25). Mr. Merka also testified that he was looking into more anger management classes, was trying to improve his life, and was extremely sorry about what had happened (R. p. 70, lines 9-19). The Circuit Court then sentenced Mr. Merka to eight (8) years in prison. (R. p. 72, lines 1-4).

On December 12, 2013 Mr. Merka filed a Motion to Reconsider or in the Alternative to Vacate the Sentence (hereinafter abbreviated to Motion to Reconsider), based on newly discovered evidence (R. p. 45-46).

Undersigned counsel discovered evidence after Mr. Merka's guilty plea hearing that Mr. Merka had a long history of mental illness (R. p. 45-46). The Motion also stated that Mr. Merka had discovered evidence that Brewer had told the Greenville County Solicitor's Office that she did not want Mr. Merka to have jail time (R. p. 45). Mr. Merka attached two exhibits to his Motion to Reconsider, one documenting a text message apparently sent from a friend of the victim to Mr. Merka, stating that the victim had said that she wanted Mr. Merka to undergo counseling in lieu of jail time (R. p. 45-46). As stated in the Motion to Reconsider, Mr. Merka through undersigned counsel discovered the victim had stated to employees and/or agents of the Solicitor's Office that she had preferred that Mr. Merka receive counseling instead of jail time (R. p. 45-46).

On January 9, 2014, the Circuit Court held a hearing on the Motion to Reconsider, which was then framed as a Motion for New Trial (R. p. 77, lines 1-6, and R. p. 1). During the hearing, Mr. Merka's defense counsel first noted that although he had been aware of Mr. Merka's "extensive work with AA and trying to get sober," that defense counsel had not learned until two days after sentencing that Mr. Merka "had had a medical diagnosis in the past of bipolar disorder," that Mr. Merka "was still suffering from that," that Mr. Merka had taken Depakote for his bipolar disorder, and that Mr. Merka had subsequently gone off of his medications in approximately 2010 or 2011 because Mr. Merka's father had lost his job (R. p. 78, lines 14-19, and R. p. 79, lines 8-25). Defense counsel also stated that Mr. Merka had a family history of "manic depressive, bipolar" and that Mr. Merka "was not on medication at the time of the incident. He was not on medication at the time of the guilty plea, which is more important" (R. p. 80, lines 3-12).

Defense counsel also noted the presence of Debra Shirley, who had witnessed Mr. Merka several months before his guilty plea trying to obtain mental health medications (R. p. 80, lines 13-24). Defense counsel also stated that he had noticed during his meetings with Mr. Merka that

“he didn’t seem to understand exactly what was going on” (R. p. 82, lines 9-10). Further, Defense counsel explained that he had attributed this to “something to do with the alcohol withdrawals or whatever” (R. p. 81, line 25, - p. 82, line 1). Defense counsel also offered as Exhibit 1 the affidavit of his paralegal, who stated that Mr. Merka “...did not appear to grasp the situation...” of “...the charges and penalties that he could be facing,” that Mr. Merka exhibited “...grandiose ideas concerning what would actually take place during the course of events leading to trial and after,” and that Mr. Merka “...could not stay ‘on point...’” during his meetings with Defense counsel, as Mr. Merka exhibited rapid speech and easy distractibility( R. p. 128).

Defense counsel and The Circuit Court then engaged in the following colloquy:

Q. Defense counsel: “In that colloquy of the guilty plea, we didn’t ask him during the discussion of his mental health.”

A. The Court: “It’s okay to say I didn’t ask him” (R. p. 82, lines 17-21).

Thereafter, defense counsel stated to the Circuit Court

Q. “you didn’t ask him,”

A. and The Circuit Court responded, “You’re right. I did not” (R. p. 83, lines 1-2).

Mr. Merka’s father, Mike Merka, also testified about Mr. Merka’ history of mental illness, testifying that he had been diagnosed with “ADD” and subsequently “bipolar” and that Mike Merka believed Mr. Merka had self-medicated with alcohol and/or drugs after Mike Merka had a job change (R. p. 87, line 1, and R. p. 80, lines 1-25, - p. 81, line, 25, and. p. 92, lines 1-25, - p. 94, line, 25). Mike Merka also testified that Mr. Merka had taken Depakote, Celexa, and/or Lexapro for his bipolar/depression and Concerta for his “ADHD” (R. p. 65, lines 3-8). The Circuit Court then took the issue of mental illness under advisement until the defendant could produce more evidence of mental illness (R. p. 90, lines 1-5).

Subsequently, defense counsel raised the issue detailed in the Motion to Reconsider regarding the Solicitor Office's alleged *Brady* violation. It was stated:

I am also aware that, uh, Stephanie Brewer went to the Solicitor's Office and had communications with- The State doesn't disagree with they had communications with the Solicitor prior to the sentencing that she thought that the recommendation was too much. I get it that The State put on the record that the communication, that this was the Solicitor's recommendation as to sentencing. But at no point was I made aware of a, uh, communication between the victim and The State about these sentencing issues. And if you go to a litany of cases that have recently been handed down as early as 2012, uh, *State versus Hyman*. *Brady* disclosure rules require the prosecution to provide Mr. Merka any evidence the prosecution may possess that may be favorable to the accused and material to guilt or punishment (R. p. 93, lines 1-25, - p. 94, line 25).

A. The Circuit Court then responded:

I don't think that- I don't think that-I just don't think—my interpretation of the case law in this state does not cover the fact that the victim might have some apprehension about Mr. Merka getting some sort of sentence.” The Circuit Court also stated that although she “understood that she [Brewer] had apprehension” about the sentencing, The Circuit Court “did not get the impression in any way that you wanted him-that you had any opinion on what the sentence ought to be and that you did not necessarily want him to go to jail for this, you know. I didn't want you to feel like it was something that you did. But your concern about that is noted (R. p. 94, lines 1-25, - p. 95, line, 25).

Next, The State said:

A. [i]t was not my decision and has ever been my understanding that, uh, the victim in this case was in contradiction to the state's recommendation. Now the victim and I had a discussion on October the 28<sup>th</sup> in which, uh, she specifically with respect to sentencing talked about the fact that ATU was a great idea for this individual because of his alcohol use.” The State further stated, “I sent an email to Defense counsel on November 1<sup>st</sup>, two or three days after the fact in which I said, among other things, I agreed with the victim that a substantial amount of incarceration is appropriate in this case.” (R. p. 96, lines 1-18). And, the State also stated, “Never did Ms. Brewer give me a specific sentence. As I told you at the plea in the sentencing, she doesn't want any responsibility whatsoever for causing any kind of injury or whatever to any other person (R. p. 96, lines 17-18).

The Circuit Court then stated:

- A. "...it does sound like your conversations from here-there was nothing in those conversations you feel like you need to disclose in any way" (R. p. 96, line 25, - p. 97, line 2).

Defendant then noted that,

- A. "[a]t no time-first of all, I was asked not to contact her. I respected that. I never had contacted her. I didn't contact her until she got back with me. I never asked to have communications with her" (R. p. 97, lines 4-12).

- A. Defense counsel then reiterated his argument:

... [b]ut I do think it was discoverable Brady material. I do think that although I understand where the Court's coming from about that case, I do think those litany of cases after *Human* all go to that same matter, which go to—the State can't just have this great bite of the apple that every time we want to come in here and go full force and say our victims... (R. p. 98, lines 6-13).

- A. After which The Circuit Court interjected:

I don't know that this is the path was want to go down. Let's just stop. Just stop" and concluded "In light of the circumstances of this, I think---I can't see-let me just say that a victim's input is--I hope you don't take this wrong, ma'am—is simply that. It's input that I can choose to follow, ignore, or do anything with. It think it sounds from what The State said like his conversations with her led him to believe that she believed incarceration was appropriate in this case but at the plea, she sounded a little different about that. Maybe didn't come out right and say she didn't think incarceration or she just didn't take a position. So I mean, I think even if, uh-even if this case had contemplated some sort of information like that that is not really relevant to sentencing, even if it did contemplate something like that, this—this situation, The State was just not on notice that there was anything he needed to tell you about (R. p. 98, lines 14-25, - p. 99, line 11).

After this ruling, Defense counsel reiterated:

- A. “I got these emails after the fact and I didn’t know about it. That’s my—and I think the record is clear on that” (R. p. 99, lines 24-25, - p. 100, line 2).

After the January 9, 2014 motion hearing, Mr. Merka submitted a Proposed Order for a New Trial, with Exhibits A-G (R. p. 7-8). Pursuant to the Circuit Court’s request, the exhibits of the proposed order contained evidence to support Mr. Merka’s claim of mental illness (R. p. 7).

Mike Merka, Mr. Merka’s father, averred that Mr. Merka had been diagnosed with Bipolar Disorder and ADHD in elementary school and that he had administered the medications for these conditions “for years,” but that due to frequent moves the medical records were lost (R. p. 129). Mary Miller, the mother of Mr. Merka, avowed that Mr. Merka had been diagnosed and was prescribed medications for ADHD and that she would administer the medications when Mr. Merka visited her (R. p. 130-131). Stacy Inman, the mother of Mr. Merka’s child, also averred that she had been aware of Mr. Merka’s ADHD in 2006, that his medications kept his “ADHD symptoms under control,” and that when he was not taking his medications, he was “very irritable and easily angered,” would make “irrational decisions,” and “tended to have ‘mood swings’ while he wasn’t taking medication” (R. p. 132). Inman also averred that Mr. Merka “was on his medications regularly” during Inman’s “7 year time span” with Mr. Merka and that Mr. Merka could not take ADHD medications after he was dropped from his father’s insurance and could not afford his own health insurance (R. p. 133).

Finally, Mr. Merka submitted with the Proposed Order prescription records documenting a 2008 prescription for Adderall XR and for Vyvanse, as well as his treating physician’s statement

that Mr. Merka had been prescribed Adderall XR in 2007 and Vyvanse in 2009, both for ADHD (R. p. 19). ).

On May 15 2014, The Circuit Court denied Mr. Merka's motion for a new trial (R. p. 6, line 22). The Circuit Court noted in its Order that the limited evidence of Mr. Merka's mental illness was not evidence that might 'reasonably bear on the proper sentence,' pursuant to *State v. Hicks*, 377 SC. at 325, 659 SE2d at 500. (R. p. 4). Mr. Merka received the Court's Order on May 19, 2014. On May 27, 2014, Mr. Merka filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 47-48). Mr. Merka filed an amended notice of appeal on June 9, 2014, amending the appeal to reflect the indictment number rather than the warrant numbers (R. p. 49-50).

## ARGUMENT OF ISSUES

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE STATE'S FAILURE TO PROVIDE THE DEFENDANT WITH THE VICTIM'S STATEMENTS BEFORE HIS GUILTY PLEA, DESPITE THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST PURSUANT TO *BRADY V. MARYLAND*.**

This is a case about a lover's spat that unintentionally became too filled with passion and elevated emotions that unfortunately resulted in erratic behavior. "In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law" (*State v. Anderson*, 407 S.C. 278, 285; 754 S.E.2d 905, 909 (Ct. App. 2014)(citing *State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 135, 731 S.E.2d 604, 608 (Ct. App. 2012)). "The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial [court], whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion'" (*Id.* (citing *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012))). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without

evidentiary support” (*Id.*, (citing *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011))).

With respect to the landmark case *Brady v. Maryland*<sup>1</sup>, the prosecution must provide Mr. Merka with any evidence in the prosecution’s possession that may be favorable to Mr. Merka and that is material to the guilt or punishment of Mr. Merka (*State v. Anderson*, 407 S.C. 278, 286-287; 754 S.E.2d 905, 911 (Ct. App. 2014)(citing *Hyman v. State*, 397 S.C. 35, 45, 723 S.E.2d 375, 380 (2012)). Favorable evidence arises from two categories: evidence that is exculpatory or evidence that can be used for impeachment purposes (*Id.* at 287, 911 (citing *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667, 676, 105 S. Ct. 3375, 87 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1963))). Materiality of the evidence is judged by the “reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different had the evidence been disclosed to the defense” (*Id.* (citing *Hyman*, 397 S.C. at 45, 723 S.E.2d at 380)). With respect to materiality of evidence for guilty pleas, a *Brady* violation is material “when there is a reasonable probability that, but for the government’s failure to disclose *Brady* evidence, the outcome of the case would have been more favorable to defendant” (*Gibson v. State*, 34 S.C. 515; 514 S.E.2d 320 (1999)(citing *Sanchez v. United States*, 50 F.3d at 1454; *Banks v. United States*, 920 F. Supp. 688, 692 (E.D. Va. 1996)). In the instant case, Mr. Merka would have refused to plead guilty and gone to trial.

The *Gibson* Court emphasized the importance of prosecutorial “fair play,” noting:

[T]he prudent prosecutor will resolve doubtful questions in favor of disclosure. This is as it should be. Such disclosures will serve to justify trust in the prosecutor as the representative . . . of a sovereignty . . . whose interest . . . in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done. And it will tend to preserve the criminal trial, as distinct from the prosecutor’s private deliberations, as the chosen forum for ascertaining the truth about criminal accusations *Gibson*, quoting *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. at 439-40, 115 S. Ct. at 1568, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 509 (quotes

---

<sup>1</sup> 1, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

omitted) (citing *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 633, 79 L. Ed. 1314 (1935)).

Regarding an alleged *Brady* violation, an issue is preserved for review if the *Brady* issue is raised in a motion, and a trial judge denies said motion *State v. Gullede*, 326 S.C. 220, 227; 487 S.E.2d 590, 593 (1997). In *Gullede*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals found that petitioner had not preserved the *Brady* issue for appeal because the trial court did not rule on the *Brady* argument (*Id.*). The South Carolina Supreme Court found the Court of Appeals' holding to be in error despite noting it "questionable" whether the trial judge ruled on petitioner's motion to suppress based on *Brady* (*Id.*). The Supreme Court held: "[h]owever, the issue was clearly used in the motion to reduce sentence and restitution and the trial judge denied the motion. Thus, the issue is preserved for review" (*Id.*).

In the instant case, the defendant Walter J. Merka ("Mr. Merka") respectfully submits that the trial court committed an error of law in finding that the prosecution did not violate the *Brady* rule and its interpretation under South Carolina law. As noted above, Mr. Merka and defense counsel discovered, after Mr. Merka's guilty plea, evidence that the victim Brewer had informed the prosecution that she did not want Mr. Merka to undergo jail time; this evidence is supported by the exhibit in Mr. Merka's Motion to Reconsider documenting a text message apparently sent from a friend of the victim to Mr. Merka, stating that the victim had said that she wanted Mr. Merka to undergo counseling in lieu of jail time (R. p. 45, lines 6-10). The evidence of the victim's doubt in the prosecution of Mr. Merka is also supported by the State's statement that Brewer had expressed that she would like Mr. Merka to undergo alcohol counseling (R. p. 95, lines 15-20). Admittedly, the evidence regarding the exact nature of the victim Brewer's statements to the prosecution is limited; however, the evidence is limited because Mr. Merka was deprived of this information before his guilty plea and therefore could not pursue investigation of these statements,

which is the exact breakdown of prosecutorial disclosure that *Brady* contemplates and that *Gibson* underscores: the breakdown of the criminal prosecution as a justice-seeker and of the criminal trial as the chosen forum for ascertaining the truth about criminal accusations.

While the exact nature of the statements is of dispute [the State stated on the record that Brewer was in agreement with him that “a substantial amount of incarceration” would be appropriate] (R. p. 95, lines 23-25, - p. 96, line 2), there is no dispute that Brewer had made statements to the State and possibly other agents of the Solicitor’s Office. As such, these statements were in possession of the prosecution, thus satisfying the prosecutorial possession requirement under *Anderson*.

With respect to the requirement that the evidence requested pursuant to *Brady* be favorable, any evidence that the prosecution had in its possession that Brewer did not want Mr. Merka to go to jail would be favorable to Mr. Merka. Brewer’s statements that she did not want Mr. Merka to go to jail could have been exculpatory and used for impeachment purposes. The evidence that Brewer did not want Mr. Merka to go to jail would have provided Mr. Merka with the opportunity to ascertain the truth about Brewer’s view of his punishment and thus logically Brewer’s recollection of the events that transpired leading up to Mr. Merka’s arrest.

For example, Mr. Merka’s defense counsel could have inquired of Brewer why she was doubtful about Mr. Merka’s punishment and could have further explored why Brewer was having doubts about the punishment for the crimes against her with which Mr. Merka, her ex-boyfriend, had been charged. Because Mr. Merka was under the above-noted no-contact order, knowledge that the victim Brewer was doubting a punishment of jail-time for Mr. Merka could have been explored with the prosecution present, but Mr. Merka could not have known to pursue this option because he did not know what the prosecution may have known: i.e., that Brewer did not want Mr.

Merka to go to jail for the crimes against her. For example, at Mr. Merka's guilty plea hearing, Brewer's equivocation reflected in her statement "I don't know what should happen" would have taken on new meaning that Mr. Merka through counsel could have explored (R. p. 65, lines 17-18).

Further, evidence that Brewer stated to the prosecution that she did not want Mr. Merka to go to jail could have been reasonably used to impeach Ms. Brewer, if Mr. Merka were able to ascertain that her doubt about Mr. Merka's punishment arose from changing her perspective on the events of the carjacking and assault and battery.

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