ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001150

RECEIVED
FEB 12 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

WALTER JACOB MERKA,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Ste. 325
Greenville, SC 29601

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The plea court did not err in finding that a discovery violation did not occur and Appellant was not prejudiced as the plea court could consider the alleged information during the motion to reconsider.

Merka alleges Victim told the prosecution she did not want Merka to receive any prison time and further alleges that not disclosing this to Merka before the plea constitutes a Brady violation. Evidence in the record indicates such a discussion did not occur, and further, the prosecution is under no duty to disclose such information. Additionally, the plea court could reconsider the information, for what little it might be worth, during the motion for reconsideration. At the plea, Victim noted she did not know what punishment was appropriate for Merka.

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) is based on the requirement of due process. To succeed on a Brady claim, the defendant must show: 1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, 2) it was in possession of or known to the prosecution, 3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and 4) was material to the guilt or punishment. Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999).

The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information may be helpful to the defense in its own investigation is insufficient to establish constitutional materiality under Brady. United States, v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109-10 (1976). “Materiality of evidence is determined based on the reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different had the evidence been disclosed to the defense.” Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378,

384, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). For Brady purposes, the court's function is to determine whether the appellant's right to a fair trial has been impaired, when viewing the non-disclosed evidence in the context of the entire record. State v. Osborne, 291 S.C. 265, 353 S.E.2d 276 (1987).

Initially, Respondent finds it troubling that Merka is willing to make disparaging accusations regarding the prosecution's duties without citing one case where a court found that a prosecutor has a duty to disclose a victim's apprehensions about the severity of a potential sentence.

The Victim's fleeting thoughts on an appropriate sentence for her quondam boyfriend and attacker are simply not material to guilt or punishment. Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 683, 511 S.E.2d 396 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding victim's constitutional rights to be notified of proceedings, to be heard, and to consult with prosecutor did not give victim right to veto proposed plea agreement); see Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 723 S.E.2d 375 (2012) ("To the extent Petitioner argues . . . that a criminal defendant may never enter a plea voluntarily without the State first disclosing all of the evidence in its possession, we disagree . . ."). Note Victim did have the opportunity to comment on a potential sentence at the plea hearing. When Victim was given the opportunity to speak, she commented, "I don't know what should happen." ROA. p. 65, lines 17-18. There is no reason a victim should know.

Further, the trial court was presented with the opportunity to reconsider the sentence in light of the "new" information, so no further sanction or reconsideration of the sentence was necessary. See Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 594 S.E.2d 462, 470 (2004) (finding where the statement was made available to the defense at the end of the State's direct

examination and the defense chose not to further impeach the State's witness with the statement, new trial on the basis of Brady was not warranted).

Also note Merka made no attempt at the hearing on his motion to call Victim as a witness to testify as to her discussions with the State. Accordingly, Merka's claim he could not complete a full record to support his motion on this issue is simply without merit.

Further, regardless of the rank hearsay Merka's counsel might have been relaying to the plea court, the allegation is simply not true. The prosecutor explained: "It . . . has never been my understanding that, uh, the victim in this case was in contradiction to the state's recommendation." ROA. p. 95, lines 11-14. The prosecutor noted that he sent an e-mail to Merka's counsel that he had agreed with Victim "that a substantial amount of incarceration is appropriate in this case." ROA. p, 95, line 23 – p. 96, line 7.

Given the plea court had the ability to determine the materiality of the alleged "discovery" violation, and found it was not material, the plea court did not err in denying the motion for reconsideration.

Additionally, Merka claims he should get a new trial. However, Victim's thoughts on an appropriate punishment have no bearing on Merka's guilt or innocence, so his conviction should remain intact regardless of the merits of the issue raised. See Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 299 S.E.2d 854 (1983) (finding a defendant alleging after-discovered evidence must show the evidence (1) would probably change the result if a new trial was had; (2) was discovered since the trial; (3) could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial; (4) is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching).

II.

The plea court did not err in denying the motion to withdraw the guilty plea based on Appellant's alleged but unproven mental health history. Appellant was aware of his own mental health history, and his self-protective act of fleeing decries an excused crime based on legal insanity. Merka's counsel was in a position to bring any issues as to Merka's competency to stand trial to the plea court's attention.

Merka alleges the trial court should have considered his mental health history. Merka raised a belated, questionable issue as to his mental health history. Nothing presented to the plea court required the plea court to allow Merka to withdraw the guilty plea or reconsider Merka's sentence.

Merka's competency at the guilty plea hearing is not at all at issue. Consider Merka's plea for mercy at the conclusion of the guilty plea:

I am extremely sorry for all of my actions. I'm extremely embarrassed of myself. I am currently going on 103 days sober. I – with everything going on, I must say, I'm physically free from everything. Sobriety and – alcohol and drugs have been a big part of my life for many, many years. . .

ROA. p. 70, lines 9-15. Merka explained alcohol and drugs drove him to the point where his anger was out of control. Note that he was making excuses for what he did. ROA. p. 70, lines 16-19. Merka assured the judge that he feels a whole lot better, his anger has gone down so much that Merka declared, "it amazes me even to today." ROA. p. 70, lines 21-24. He apologized to the Victim to show the judge he was sorry. ROA. p. 70, line 25 – p. 71, line 1. Merka pled for mercy. ROA. p. 71. So Merka was fine at the guilty plea, which is what the plea court found. Order dated May 14, 2014, p. 2.

Of course, nothing in the facts of the horrific crime suggests an issue of mental illness. It was, just like Merka explained at the guilty plea hearing, him unable to control his anger over a relationship ending and him letting anger, like his use of drugs, overtake him. He took self-protective measures like escaping when Victim found a neighbor to assist her and attempting to return her stolen car to the home improvement store. The nature of Merka's argument about how his ADHD affected him at the time of the crime suggests he is asserting a diminished capacity defense, which is not a valid defense. See State v. Sanitago, 370 S.C. 153, 162, 634 S.E.2d 23, 28 (Ct. App. 2006) (noting that diminished capacity is not a recognized defense in South Carolina).

To show after discovered evidence, the defendant must show the evidence: (1) would probably change the result if a new trial was had; (2) was discovered since the trial; (3) could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial; (4) is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 299 S.E.2d 854 (1983). Obviously, the evidence could have been "discovered" before trial since it was within Merka's knowledge. There is no showing the evidence is material beyond being merely mitigating evidence, at best, for sentencing purposes, and considering the plea court could have considered the evidence, and did not find it persuasive, it would not have affected the outcome of the sentencing phase of the plea and would not be useful for trial.

The withdrawal of a guilty plea is within the sound discretion of the plea judge. State v. Bickham, 381 S.C. 143, 147, 672 S.E.2d 105, 107 (2009). The motion was based on the premise that counsel did not discover Merka's mental health history until after the plea. But

Merka would be well aware of his own mental health history.

Further, the plea court acted within its discretion in discounting the evidentiary value of family members' affidavits and medical journal articles to determine whether Merka's purported mental illnesses played a part in the crime committed, as opposed to alcohol, drug, and anger control issues as described by Merka himself at the guilty plea hearing. Merka failed to offer any relevant medical records to convincingly establish his recent mental health history. Merka admits in his brief that documentation of the supposed history of mental illness was limited; Merka claims it was because the family moved frequently. The plea court found this explanation for the lack of records to not be compelling. Order dated May 14, 2014, pp. 3-4.

Authority to change a sentence rests with the sentencing judge and the judge's decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008). A trial court abuses its power of discretion when it commits an error of law or when there has been a factual conclusion without any evidentiary support. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). The instant case reveals that the plea court did not abuse its discretion in declining to alter the sentence based on the skimpy evidence of recent mental illness and in light of the horrific acts committed by Merka.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.